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SUMMARY

During April and May 2005, the Cambridgeshire County Council Archaeological
Field Unit monitored groundworks for a new house at 338 Thorpe Road, Longthorpe.
Test pits and foundation trenches for a boundary wall and the house were examined.

This evaluation revealed three features, all of which were undated. A moderate
amount of unstratified medieval pottery was recovered along with an early 20th-
century Masonic medal. The development area was probably always open
agricultural land in the past.
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338 Thorpe Road, Longthorpe, Peterborough:
An Archaeological Watching Brief
TL 1620 9847

INTRODUCTION

Between the 1st April and 11th May 2005 the Cambridgeshire County Council
Archaeological Field Unit (CCC AFU) conducted a watching brief during
ground works at 338 Thorpe Road, Longthorpe, Peterborough (Fig.1). The
work was carried out at the request of David Turnock Architects on behalf of
Mr and Mrs Clasper in response to advice issued by Ben Robinson, the
Peterborough City Council Archaeology Officer. The development was the
construction of a new dwelling.

The site is located on Thorpe Road, in the medieval core of the village in close
proximity to Longthorpe Tower.

GEOLOGY AND TOPOGRAPHY

According to the British Geological Survey Map (Sheet 158, Peterborough,
1:50,000), the church is situated on third river terrace gravels on the north
bank of the river Nene.

The topography is flat, at a height of 17.7m OD.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Neolithic

Neolithic remains are widespread on both sides of the River Nene. These
occur mainly as isolated finds of flint tools (arrowheads). No settlement
evidence is recorded in the area around Longthorpe.

Bronze Age

It has been suggested that there was widespread occupation of the Nene valley
during the Bronze Age (2nd millennium BC). Bronze Age remains have been
noted to the west of the site, on the southern bank of the River Nene. Barrows
or burial mounds (dated to the Neolithic/Bronze Age period, SMR 1392 and
1620) have been located on low-lying land to the north of Orton
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Figure 1 Location of trenches with the development area outlined (red)

2




33

3.4

35

3.6

Longueville and a Bronze Age axe (SMR 1998) was found in the same
area. On the northern bank of the river a Middle Bronze Age palstave is
recorded (SMR 7844).

It would therefore appear that Bronze Age occupation in this area was
concentrated close to the river, despite the fact that the land is relatively low-

lying.
Iron Age

Iron Age use of rivers from the Wash to the Fen is well attested and associated
with continental Iron Age influence. Early Iron Age pottery ('Late Hallstatt'
type) has been found in abundance near Peterborough (Kenney 2003).

An Iron Age farm has been recorded close to the Roman fort at Longthorpe
and Iron Age coins have been found on the northern bank of the River Nene
(SMR 10479 and 10478).

Roman

Extensive Roman remains have been found in the Nene Valley and the well
documented fort of Longthorpe (Scheduled Ancient Monument 135) with an
associated Iron Age farm lying less than 1km to the west of the site. Roman
occupation remains have also been found just south of the river. A fording
place (SMR 4321) is known adjacent to the fort. A wealth of Roman
occupation remains (SMR 01383), pottery kilns (SMR 01435¢c) and a cemetery
(SMR 01386) have been found outside the fort as well as numerous surface
finds.

Anglo-Saxon

Possible Anglo-Saxon cross fragments still lie 300m to the east of the
development site, reused as stocks and a whipping post (SMR 01657). Late
Saxon building remains have been found cut by the fishponds 600m to the east
(SMR 04454a). An Anglo-Saxon cemetery was found within Longthorpe fort
(SMR 1382).

Medieval

The parish church of St Botolph (SMR 01927) dates to the 13th century and
was a chapel of ease until 1850 when Longthorpe became a separate parish.
Documents suggest that there was an earlier church on the site. Longthorpe
Tower, 150m to the west, (SMR 01709) is a medieval building of the 13th
century with a fortified ‘tower’. Medieval fishponds are visible 0.7km to the
east (SMR 01649) near the Holy Well spring. Two Hundred metres to the
north -west lies the socket of a medieval cross (SMR 01662), while 1km to the
east lie medieval cultivation remains (SMR 08283).
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5.1

A watching brief was carried out at Longthorpe Green in 2004, but no
archaeological features were observed (Kenney 2003).

The Deserted Medieval Village of Botolph Bridge (also known as Bottlebridge
or Botuleuesbrige) has been located immediately to the south (SMR 1805). It
is known that Botolph Bridge was an embargement point on the Nene for the
transport of stone from quarries beyond Alwalton along the fen waterways to
towns such as Cambridge. Excavations here in 1999 and 2000 by CCC AFU
revealed substantial medieval settlement remains (Kemp and Spoerry 2001).

During the medieval period nearby Peterborough was a major town with dense
medieval occupation to the north of the river. Activity was initially centred
around the monastic settlement and market but grew considerably during the
medieval period.

Post-Medieval

Some 600m to the east of the site lies the Holy Well, a natural spring encased
in an 18th-century grotto (SMR 04454). Its presence may have lead to the
development of Thorpe Manor and its earthworks which surround the spring.

The 1889 Ordnance Survey map shows the development area as open
pastureland.

METHODOLOGY

The site was inspected on four occasions, during the excavation of four test
pits and during excavations of the foundation trenches.

The exposed surfaces were cleaned in order to clarify any features or deposits.
All exposed features and deposits were excavated and recorded according to
CCC AFU standards and practises. Digital and standard print/slide
photographs were taken.

RESULTS
Test Pits

Four test pits were dug by minidigger (Fig. 2). Test pits 1-3 contained 0.3-
0.4m of topsoil above 30-40 cm of mid brown clayey subsoil. One fragment of
medieval pottery and a gold Masonic medal were recovered from the topsoil
of Test Pit 1 (see Appendix). Test Pit 4 contained 0.3m of topsoil above a
cobbled surface believed to be associated with a 20th-century garage on the
site. Below this was 0.2m of subsoil.
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Figure 2 Plan of foundation trenches, test pits and sections
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Foundation Trenches

The foundation trenches were monitored on three occasions after most of the
topsoil had been removed. The whole of the house foundations and the
western boundary foundation were inspected, with three features being
discovered and recorded. The features were all sealed by 0.25m of subsoil.

Pit 1 was a large feature, at least 3.25m wide and 0.65m deep with vertical
sides and a flat bottom (Fig.2, section3). Its fill was a mixed backfill,
consisting mainly of dark brown sandy silt with moderate gravel and
occasional charcoal and limestone fragments.

Pit 2 was a small pit or posthole 0.6m wide and 0.1m deep with a fill of dark
brown silt with rare gravel, but frequent mussel shell and bone (Fig.2, section
2).

Pit 3 was a small pit or posthole, 0.4m wide and 0.3m deep. It was filled with
a dark grey silty clay (Fig.2, section 1).

Plate 1 General view of the foundations

DISCUSSION

The development site was located just outside the edge of the conservation
area and medieval core of Longthorpe, on the main road through the village
and just across the road from Longthorpe Tower. This site was therefore
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believed to have a lot of potential for the survival of archaeological remains.
Although three features were examined, none of these contained datable finds
or highly cultural remains (with the exception of pit 2 which contained refuse).
It is possible that the large pit was a gravel quarry for road building, while the
two smaller features were postholes for fence lines, representing edge of
village activity. The first edition Ordnance Survey Map (1889) shows this area
as pasture.

CONCLUSIONS

This evaluation revealed three features, all of which were undated. A moderate
amount of unstratified medieval pottery was recovered, and was an early 20th-
century Masonic medal. The development area was probably always open
agricultural land in the past.
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Appendix: Finds Data

The only finds recovered were from the topsoil. These comprise seven pottery sherds
(Bourne B, local shelley ware and black glazed earthen ware, dated 1150-1700) and a
Masonic medal dating from the 1920s.

The Masonic medal is circular, 38mm in diameter and 8mm thick. It is composed of a
gold outer ring enclosing two panels of glass or crystal, one of which is broken.
Within the glass was a metal panel with three figures beneath a triangle radiating
beams and the date MDCCCXXX (1830) on one side, while on the other, the words
‘HONORABLE TESTIMONIAL OF MASONIC CHARITY & BENEVOLENCE
INSTITUTED BY HRH AUG: FRED: DUKE OF SUSSEX M W GRAND
MASTER’ with the compasses and set square beneath. Around the outside edge, the

gold ring had been engraved with the words, ‘W.BRO. H.P.HOOPER, served as
Steward RMIB, 1920. RMIG. 1922,

Plate 2 Masonic medal
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